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DAVID A. BALTO
ATTORNEY AT LAW igﬂxﬂ‘wn/
2600 VIRGINIA AVE, NW
SUITE 1111 — THE WATERGATE
WASHINGTON, DC 20037

PHONE: (202) 577-5424
Email: david.balto@yahoo.com

April 24, 2008

Donald Clark,

Secretary

Federal Trade Commission
Washington, DC 20580

Re: In the matter of Negotiated Data Solutions, LL.C; FTC File No. 051 0094
Dear Secretary Clark,

On behalf of the American Antitrust Institute (AAI), the Consumer Federation of
America, and the Public Patent Foundation, we respectfully submit the following public
comments regarding the Federal Trade Commission’s Proposed Consent Order in the
Negotiated Data Solutions (“N-Data”) matter. We believe that the Federal Trade
Commission’s enforcement action is based on sound, mainstream antitrust principles, and
protects consumers in an important high-technology market. Moreover, by articulating
how opportunistic conduct by a non-practicing entity (“NPE”) can constitute unlawful
conduct under Section 5 of the FTC Act, the Commission has established an important
precedent which will protect consumers from this type of conduct in other standard
setting environments.

We comment below about various issues. raised in the Majority’s statement and-

the dissents. We begin, however, with the importance of the N-Data decision from an
institutional perspective. Congress created the FTC over 90 years ago for a unique
mission — to create an expert body which through the enforcement of a broad statute
could address anticompetitive and deceptive conduct that could not necessarily be
addressed under the traditional antitrust laws. Institutionally, by creating an expert body
of Commissioners and the use of an administrative litigation process and other non-
litigation tools, the hope was that the Commission could address complex economic
practices that might harm the competitive process. The Commission addresses these
practices through its competition and consumer protection missions.




As recogmzed by many scholars, the Commission often has failed to hve up to
that vision.! For a period of time, administrative litigation fell into disuse.> The
Commission found few opportunities to merge its competition and consumer protection
expe:rtise.3 And perhaps most importantly, it failed to use Section 5 to address
competitively harmful practices that could not be challenged under the Sherman Act.

We applaud the Commission’s actions in cases like Rambus, Unocal, and N-Data,
each of which recognizes and utilizes the unique mission of the Commission. In these
cases the Commission has struggled with important questions at the intersection of
intellectual property and antitrust law in a thoughtful, well-reasoned fashion. The
Commission’s decisions and enforcement actions began to utilize its consumer protection
expertise to clarify important competition principles involving opportunistic conduct.
The enforcement actions not only achieved substantial benefits for consumers, but also
began to articulate the competitive analysis and legal standards necessary to guide
businesses in this complex area. In other words, the N-Data action fulfills the
institutional vision of the FTC. Our comments focus on areas where we think the
Commission statement could offer greater clarity.

The importance of FTC enforcement action addressing opportunistic
conduct. As the Commission’s enforcement actions in Dell Computer, Unocal, and
Rambus have found, standard setting bodies may provide the occasion for opportunistic
conduct. The forms of opportunism may be myriad, like the forms of exclusionary
conduct. As the Supreme Court has observed standard-setting presents many
opportunities for exclusionary conduct. See Am. Soc'y of Mech. Eng'rs v. Hydrolevel
~ Corp., 456 U.S. 556, 571 (1982) (“a standard-setting organization . . . can be rife with
opportunities for anticompetitive activity’”). Firms can secure monopoly power by failing
properly to disclose intellectual property rights, or by failing to abide by an obligation to
license on a reasonable and non-discriminatory basis.

Some may suggest there may be little need for antitrust enforcement in this setting
because non-antitrust remedies are available and the immediately affected firms are often
sophisticated high technology companies. Indeed, in some of these three cases there was
ongoing intellectual property litigation over the disputed intellectual property rights.
And, some of the complainants in this case were sophisticated corporatlons which may

have the ability to vindicate their own interests.

A But such a view is misconceived for several reasons. First, the interests of the
firms facing licensing demands based on opportunistic conduct are not necessarily
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(2005).
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See generally “Federal Trade Commission 90th Anniversary Symposium,” 72 Antitrust L.J.

See D. Bruce Hoffman and M. Sean Royall, “Administrative Litigation at the FTC: Past, Present,
and Future,” 71 Antitrust L.J. 319 (2003).

3 For enlightening discussions of opportunities to merge those missions, see Thomas B. Leary,
“Competition Law and Consumer Protection Law: Two Wings of the Same House,” 72 Antitrust L.J. 1147,
1151 (2005); Caswell O. Hobbs, “Antitrust and Consumer Protection: Exploring the Common Ground,” 72
Antitrust L.J. 1153 (2005); Robert A. Skitol, “How BC and BCP Can Strengthen Their Respective Policy
Missions Through New Uses of Each Other's Authority,” 72 Antitrust L.J. 1167, 1181 (2005).




coincident with the interests of consumers. The entities facing the licensing demand may
be able simply to pass on the licensing fees through the cost of the end product. Thus,
their primary concern might not be that they have to pay the licensing fee but rather that
they not have to pay a fee substantially higher than their rivals. They may be willing to
be victimized by the exercise of monopoly power as long as they are not placed at a
competitive disadvantage. “[Wlhen a standard used in a fairly competitive industry is
subject to uniform hold-up [as here, and as distinguished from hold-up of a single firm],
direct buyers may bear little of the costs, which falls primarily on final consumers. A
Thus, “private litigation may not vindicate the same set of public interests that are
addressed by the Sherman Act or Section 5 of the FTC Act.””

Second, the firms facing such licensing demands may have a variety of
arrangements with the firm engaging in the opportunistic conduct and thus may not have
a complete incentive to attack this opportunistic conduct. Practitioners in private antitrust
class action litigation often observe that the “small victims” in the market are more
willing to bring antitrust cases because the larger victims may have a variety of
arrangements with the antitrust violator that they do not want to place at risk.

Third, the legal remedies for the firms facing licensing demands may be
inadequate. As former Competition Bureau Director Creighton has observed, business
torts and other remedies are “imperfect substitutes for government antitrust
enforcement.” In the standard setting area in particular, because of collective action and
free rider problems, and the possible defenses such as reasonable reliance, “‘standard-
setting participants, v1ct1ms though they may be, [are] imperfect substitutes for
government enforcement.”®

Fourth, the firms subject to the licensing demand may not have the resources or
assets necessary to vindicate their rights in court. The firms making the licensing
demands may initially focus on relatively weak market participants hoping to extract a
- favorable settlement from those unable to mount the litigation battle. Some firms may
have no choice but to capitulate to the anticompetitive conduct and the cost of the
opportunistic conduct may eventually be passed on to the end consumer.

Fifth, the firms facing licensing demands may also hold patents essential to the
standard and be in a position to profit from engaging in comparable opportunistic
conduct. In other words, those who are best positioned to bring a private cause of action

4 J. Farrell, J. Hayes, C. Shapiro and T. Sullivan, “Standard Setting, Patents, and Hold-Up,” 74
Antitrust L.J. 603, 645 (2007). As the authors explain, the reason for this is that “[i]f each direct buyer
knows that its rivals are paying as high a royalty as it is, pass-through can largely immunize it against
economic loss from high running royalties. Thus, the direct buyers, who might otherwise be the best
guardians against gratuitous insertion of patents in standards, or against excessive royalties from such
patents, may bear very little of the harm. [...] Thus, consumers are not, in general well protected by the
self-interest of direct technology buyers.” I1d.
3 AF. Abbott and T.A. Gebhard, “Standard-Setting Disclosure Policies: Evaluating Antitrust
Concerns in Light of Rambus,” 16 Antitrust ABA 29, 33 (Summer 2002) (citing this point as one of the
pohcy justifications for an administrative remedy in Rambus).

Susan A. Creighton et al., “Cheap Exclusion,” 72 Antitrust L.J. 975, 993-94 (2005).




may prefer to divide the “monopoly spoils” with other essential patent holders by all
engaging in opportunistic conduct, as this may be a more profitable strategy than filing a
lawsuit to reign in the conduct of others.

Finally, the FTC is best positioned to clarify the law and defend the public interest
in the area of opportunistic conduct involving standards. The FTC, particularly through
the use of administrative litigation, has the expertise and resources necessary to resolve
these matters and articulate standards in this complex area. Administrative litigation can
be far more expeditious than federal court litigation. The FTC has a greater range of
expertise and resources to apply to these matters. As an expert antitrust agency, the FTC
has greater experience with antitrust remedies and is more capable of implementing a
remedy that may place it in a regulatory role. Federal courts may resolve these disputes
in diverse and inconsistent fashions. Moreover, the Commission can provide general
advice to standard setting bodies about these practices through staff opinion letters and
other reports. Thus, the Commission’s economic and legal expertise and panoply. of
powers make it uniquely well suited to address the competitive problems arising from
standard setting.

The application of Section 5. We believe this case is consistent with the
jurisprudence of the Commission and the courts in holding that N-Data’s conduct
constitutes an “unfair method of competition” and an “unfair act or practice” in violation
of Section 5. The ana1y51s in the Commission’s majority statement is straightforward and
sound.

First, N-Data’s conduct — bad faith behavior that distorts competition for the
standard and so undermines the standard setting process and raises prices — constitutes an
unfair method of competition.® The conduct also satisfies the commonly accepted
limiting principles for application of the ‘unfair method of competition’ prong of Section
5: the patent hold-up is “coercive” and “oppressive” with respect to firms locked into the
standard’ and the conduct is having or threatens to have an adverse impact on
competition.

Second, N-Data’s conduct constitutes an unfair act or practice under Section
5m).'"° As interpreted by the Eleventh Circuit in Orkin Exterminating Co. v. FTC, 1

7 Some may suggest that the scope of Section 5 should be limited to Sherman Act violations

because the Justice Department does not enforce Section 5 and there might be disparate treatment of
different industries depending upon whether the FTC or Justice Department investigates antitrust issues in
that industry. We believe that view is inapt and inconsistent with Congressional intent. Congress has
specifically exempted certain industries from the purview of the FTC Act; all other industries are subject to
enforcement of the Act. Even if an industry is traditionally investigated by the Justice Department, if it
engages in an unfair method of competition it would be appropriate for the FTC to investigate that conduct
and take enforcement action if appropriate.
8 See, e.g., FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 405 U.S. 233 (1972).
° See, e.g., Official Airline Guides v. FTC, 630 F.2d 920 (2d Cir. 1980) (“OAG”) (spelling out
coercion requirement), and E.I. Du Pont v. de Nemours & Co. v. FTC, 729 F.2d 128, 139-40 (2d Cir. 1984)
'(“Ethyl”) (“oppressiveness”)

10 Section 5(n) states: “The Commission shall have no authority . . . to declare unlawful an act or
practice on the grounds that such act or practice is unfair unless the act or practice causes or is likely to




Section 5(n) requires a showing that (1) the conduct caused ‘“‘substantial consumer
injury,” (2) the injury is “not . . . outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers
or competition that the practice produces” and (3) it is an injury that “consumers
themselves could not reasonably have avoided.” N-Data opportunistically exploited the
licensing commitment of National Semiconductor, on which the IEEE members relied in
part in selecting NWay technology as the Fast Ethernet standard for auto-negotiation; the
industry has become locked in to the NWay technology, for which N-Data is now
demanding and has already successfully obtained royalties significantly exceeding the
$1,000 rate agreed to by National Semiconductor; this conduct threatens to cause or is
already causing substantial consumer injury in the form of higher prices for the relevant
equipment; the conduct produces no articulable benefits to consumers or competition;
and neither direct nor indirect users of NWay technology could reasonably avoid the
injury they face, or have already faced, as a result of N-Data’s conduct.

Former Chairman Majoras takes the majority to task for its application of Section
5 principles of unfair methods of competition because the alleged coercion,
oppressiveness and adverse impact on prices for autonegotiation technology are
“impossible to prove on the evidence [before the Commission].”’* The heart of her
objection is that: “If the majority’s theory is that the evasion of contractual price
constraints triggers liability under Section 5 without a concurrent determination that the
conduct violates the Sherman Act, then we are headed down a slippery slope . . .
[because] [t]he majority has not identified a meaningful limiting principle that indicates
when an action — taken in the standard setting context or otherwise — will be considered
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an ‘unfair method of competition’.

We are in no position to second-guess either the dissenting Commissioners or the
majority as to the facts. But to the extent that the dissents’ comments are directed to the
broader policy issues regarding the use of Section 5 in these circumstances, we have
several responses: '

As to the unfair method of competition:

= First, although there is an active debate on the scope of the FTC’s Section 5
powers, we believe this type of conduct clearly falls within the scope of conduct
appropriate for challenge under the statute. The Supreme Court itself has stated, and it is
now widely accepted, that Congress mandated Section 5 “to supplement and bolster the
antitrust laws by challenging conduct that not only violates the antitrust laws but that also
falls within the ‘penumbra’ of those statutes.”’* In 1983, then-Director of the Bureau of
Consumer Protection, later Director of the Bureau of Competition and Chairman of the

cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers themselves and not
outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.” 15 U.S. C. § 45(n) (1992).
u 849 F.2d 1354, 1364 (11™ Cir. 1988).
:z Dissenting Statement of Chairman Majoras, at 4.

Id.
" Concurring Opinion of Commissioner Jon Leibowitz in In the Matter of Rambus Inc., Docket No.
9302 at 11 (citing FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 405 U.S. 233, 244 n.5 (1972)); see also Chuck’s Feed
& Seed Co., Inc. v. Ralston Purina Co., 810 F.2d 1289, 1292-93 (4 Cir. 1987).




Commission, Tim Muris commented in an FTC Staff Report that “[s]tandard setting can
be misused to exclude competitors unreasonably, injuring consumers. The Commission
can pursue anticompetititve restraints as unfair methods of competition, using a rule of
reason approach, or as unfair acts or practices under the Commission’s unfairness
protocol, in each case weighing the benefits and costs of the challenged activity.”'> Thus,
to the extent conduct in the standard setting context might be viewed as falling short of a
violation of Section 2, it can be viewed as falling within the penumbras of the Sherman
Act and thus constitute a violation of Section 5. In this case, even if one believed that N-
Data neither acquired nor maintained its market power illegally to satisfy the elements of
a Section 2 offense, it nevertheless clearly abused the dominant position it obtained
through its acquisition of the patent here at issue. This is exactly the type of
anticompetitive gap in the Sherman Act that the Congress wanted the broadly stated FTC
Act to fill.

* Second, limiting principles exist and are typically applied by the Commission.
- As Commissioner Leibowitz pointed out in his Concurrence in the Commission’s
decision in Rambus, “Section 5’s intentionally unparticularized phrase, ‘unfair methods
of competition’ is not . . . an all-encompassing, unfocused warrant as some would
claim.”'® In this case, a limiting factor is the clarity of the rule being enunciated: in a
standard setting context, if a company discloses a patent and promises to license it on
specific terms, neither that company nor any successor owner of the disclosed patent
should be allowed to renege on that promise after the standard setting organization
incorporates the patented technology as an essential element of the standard.

*  Finally, Chairman Majoras’ emphasis on N-Data’s assertion that its
“renegotiation of its licensing terms was motivated by nothing other than an independent
reason . . . or at least its desire to strike a better bargain”'’ is difficult to square this
concern with the overriding constraints imposed on the independent business judgment of
either the original obligor on a licensing commitment to a standard setting organization,
or of an assignee of that obligor, as in the case of N-Data. Surely “strik[ing] a better
- bargain” in the face of a licensing obligation that prohibits that very conduct can indeed
be considered a “competition-related offense” in these circumstances, contrary to
Chairman Majoras’ assertion, and easily fall within the penumbras of Section 2, if not
within the limits of Section 2 itself. Indeed, a similar effort to circumvent an obligation
to a standard setting organization in order to achieve better commercial terms was at the
core of the Rambus case, where the Commission agreed the conduct was actionable,
including under Section 2.

15 Timothy J. Muris, Bureau of Consumer Protection, Fed. Trade Comm’ﬁ, Staff Report on the

Standards and Certification Rule 9 (1983).

16 Concurring Opinion of Commissioner Jon Leibowitz in the Matter of Rambus Inc., Docket No.
9302, at 10. ' :
1 Dissenting Statement of Chairman Majoras at 4.































